#### CASE AT.39824 - Trucks

(Only the English text is authentic)

# CARTEL PROCEDURE Council Regulation (EC) 1/2003 and Commission Regulation (EC)773/2004

Article 7 Regulation (EC) 1/2003

Date: 19/07/2016

This text is made available for information purposes only. A summary of this decision is published in all EU languages in the Official Journal of the European Union.

Parts of this text have been edited to ensure that confidential information is not disclosed. Those parts are replaced by a non-confidential summary in square brackets or are shown as [...].



Brussels, 19.7.2016 C(2016) 4673 final

#### **COMMISSION DECISION**

of 19.7.2016

relating to a proceeding under Article 101 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (the Treaty) and Article 53 of the EEA Agreement

(AT.39824 - Trucks)

(Only the English text is authentic)

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	5
2.	The industry subject to the proceedings	6
2.1.	The product	6
2.2.	The Addressees	6
2.2.1.	MAN	6
2.2.2.	Daimler	7
2.2.3.	Iveco	7
2.2.4.	Volvo/Renault	7
2.2.5.	DAF	8
2.3.	Description of the trucks market	8
2.3.1.	Market Shares	8
2.3.2.	Structure of the sales force	8
2.3.3.	Characteristics of the trucks market	8
2.3.4.	Price setting mechanisms and gross price lists	9
2.3.5.	Transparency on the trucks market	9
3.	Procedure	10
3.1.	The Commission's investigation	10
3.2.	The main evidence relied on	12
4.	Description of the Conduct	12
4.1.	Further transparency between the Addressees	12
4.2.	Nature and scope of the infringement	12
4.3.	Geographic Scope	15
4.4.	Duration of the infringement	15
5.	Legal assessment	16
5.1.	Application of Article 101(1) of the TFEU and Article 53(1) of the EEA Agree	
5.1.1.	Agreements and concerted practices	
5.2.	Single and Continuous Infringement	17
5.3.	Restriction of Competition	18
5.4.	Effect on Trade	19
5.5.	Non-applicability of Article 101(3) of the Treaty and Article 53(3) of the EEA Agreement	19
6.	Duration of the infringement	
7.	Liability	
7.1.	MAN	21

7.2.	Daimler	1
7.3.	Iveco	1
7.4.	Volvo/Renault	2
7.5.	DAF	3
8.	Remedies	3
8.1.	Article 7 of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003:	3
8.2.	Article 23(2) of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 – Fines	3
8.2.1.	Calculation of the fines	4
8.2.2.	The value of sales	4
8.2.3.	Gravity	6
8.2.4.	Duration	6
8.2.5.	Determination of the additional amount	7
8.2.6.	Calculation of the basic amount	7
8.2.7.	Adjustments to the basic amount of the fine: aggravating or mitigating factors 2	8
8.2.8.	Application of the 10% turnover limit	8
8.2.9.	Application of the Leniency Notice	8
8.2.10.	Application of the Settlement Notice	9
8.2.11.	Conclusion: final amount of individual fines to be imposed in this decision	9

#### **COMMISSION DECISION**

#### of 19.7.2016

## relating to a proceeding under Article 101 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (the Treaty) and Article 53 of the EEA Agreement

(AT.39824 - Trucks)

(Only the English text is authentic)

#### THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION,

Having regard to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union<sup>1</sup>,

Having regard to the Agreement on the European Economic Area,

Having regard to Council Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 of 16 December 2002 on the implementation of the rules on competition laid down in Articles 81 and 82 of the Treaty<sup>2</sup>, and in particular Article 7 and Article 23(2) thereof,

Having regard to the Commission decision of 20 November 2014 to initiate proceedings in this case,

Having given the undertakings concerned the opportunity to make known their views on the objections raised by the Commission pursuant to Article 27(1) of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 and Article 12 of Commission Regulation (EC) No 773/2004 of 7 April 2004 relating to the conduct of proceedings by the Commission pursuant to Articles 81 and 82 of the Treaty<sup>3</sup>,

After consulting the Advisory Committee on Restrictive Practices and Dominant Positions,

Having regard to the final report of the hearing officer in this case<sup>4</sup>,

Whereas:

#### 1. Introduction

(1) This Decision relates to a single and continuous infringement of Article 101 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union ("TFEU") and Article 53 of the Agreement on the European Economic Area ("EEA Agreement").

OJ, C 115, 9/5/2008, p.47.

OJ L 1, 4.1.2003, p.1. With effect from 1 December 2009, Articles 81 and 82 of the EC Treaty have become Articles 101 and 102, respectively, of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union ("TFEU"). The two sets of provisions are, in substance, identical. For the purposes of this Decision, references to Articles 101 and 102 of the TFEU should be understood as references to Articles 81 and 82, respectively, of the EC Treaty when where appropriate. The TFEU also introduced certain changes in terminology, such as the replacement of "Community" by "Union" and "common market" by "internal market". Where the meaning remains unchanged, the terminology of the TFEU will be used throughout this Decision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> OJ L 123, 27.4.2004, p. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Final report of the Hearing Officer of 18 July 2016.

- (2) The infringement consisted of collusive arrangements on pricing and gross price increases in the EEA for medium and heavy trucks; and the timing and the passing on of costs for the introduction of emission technologies for medium and heavy trucks required by EURO 3 to 6 standards. The infringement covered the entire EEA and lasted from 17 January 1997 until 18 January 2011.
- (3) The facts as outlined in this Decision have been accepted by MAN, Daimler, Iveco, Volvo and DAF (the "Addressees") in the settlement procedure.
- (4) On 20 November 2014, the Commission initiated proceedings pursuant to Article 11(6) of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 against the addressees of this decision and a number of entities of an additional undertaking. This undertaking did not submit a request to settle the proceedings pursuant to Article 10a(2) of Regulation (EC) No 773/2004. As at the date of this Decision, the administrative proceedings under Article 7 of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 against this undertaking are pending. For the avoidance of doubt, this Decision does not make any findings concerning this undertaking with respect to an infringement of EU competition law.

#### 1. THE INDUSTRY SUBJECT TO THE PROCEEDINGS

#### 1.1. The product

(5) The products concerned by the infringement are trucks weighing between 6 and 16 tonnes ("medium trucks") and trucks weighing more than 16 tonnes ("heavy trucks") both as rigid trucks as well as tractor trucks (hereinafter, medium and heavy trucks are referred to collectively as "Trucks"). The case does not concern aftersales, other services and warranties for trucks, the sale of used trucks or any other goods or services sold by the addressees of this Decision.

#### 1.2. The Addressees

(6) The undertakings, comprising the legal entities listed in sections 2.2.1 to 2.2.5, (together referred to as the "Addressees") took part in the infringement.<sup>6</sup>

#### 1.2.1. MAN

- (7) MAN (MAN SE and its subsidiaries together are referred to as "MAN") manufactures and distributes trucks, buses, diesel engines, turbo machinery as well as special gear. In addition MAN provides financial services relating to the distribution of its products.
- (8) The legal entities of MAN that are liable for the infringement are:
  - MAN SE with its registered office in Munich, Germany;
  - MAN Truck & Bus AG (hereinafter referred to as "MAN HQ") with its registered office in Munich, Germany;
  - MAN Truck & Bus Deutschland GmbH (hereinafter referred to as "MAN DE") with its registered office in Munich, Germany.

-

Excluding trucks for military use.

<sup>&</sup>quot;Headquarters" or "Headquarter-Level" in the following refers to MAN Truck & Bus AG, Daimler AG, Iveco S.p.A., Volvo Lastvagnar AB, Renault Trucks SAS and DAF Trucks N.V. together. "German-Level" or "German Subsidiaries" in the following refers to MAN Truck & Bus Deutschland GmbH, Daimler AG, Iveco Magirus AG, Volvo Group Trucks Central Europe GmbH, Renault Trucks Deutschland GmbH and DAF Trucks Deutschland GmbH.

- (9) MAN's total worldwide turnover in 2015 was EUR 13,702 million.
- 1.2.2. Daimler
- (10) Daimler develops, produces and sells passenger cars and buses as well as medium and heavy trucks. In addition, Daimler provides financial services.
- (11) The legal entity of Daimler that is liable for the infringement is Daimler AG (hereinafter referred to as "Daimler") with its registered office in Stuttgart, Germany.
- (12) Daimler's worldwide consolidated turnover in 2015 was EUR 149,467 million.

#### 1.2.3. Iveco

- (13) Iveco (CNH Industrial and Fiat Chrysler Automobiles N.V. and their subsidiaries active in the production, financing and sale of Iveco trucks together are referred to as "Iveco") is active in the production and sale of light commercial vehicles, medium and heavy trucks as well as commuter buses and touring coaches, as well as special vehicles for fire-fighting applications, civil defence and peace keeping missions.
- (14) The legal entities of Iveco that are liable for the infringement are:
  - CNH Industrial N.V. with its corporate seat and registered office in Amsterdam, the Netherlands and the effective place of management in London, UK;
  - Fiat Chrysler Automobiles N.V. with its corporate seat and registered office in Amsterdam, the Netherlands and the effective place of management in London, UK:
  - Iveco S.p.A. (hereinafter referred to as "Iveco HQ") with its registered office in Turin, Italy;
  - Iveco Magirus AG (hereinafter referred to as "Iveco DE") with its registered office in Ulm, Germany.
- (15) CNH Industrial N.V.'s worldwide consolidated turnover in 2015 was EUR 23,775 million.
- (16) Fiat Chrysler Automobiles N.V.'s worldwide consolidated turnover in 2015 was EUR 110,595 million.

#### 1.2.4. Volvo/Renault

- Volvo/Renault (Aktiebolaget Volvo (publ), referred to as "AB Volvo", and its subsidiaries together are referred to as "Volvo" or "Volvo/Renault") is the parent company of Volvo Lastvagnar AB (hereinafter referred to as "Volvo HQ") and Renault Trucks SAS (hereinafter referred to as "Renault HQ", Renault Trucks SAS and its subsidiaries together are referred to as "Renault").
- (18) AB Volvo and its subsidiaries are active in the production and sale of trucks, buses, construction equipment, drive systems for marine and industrial applications. In addition, AB Volvo also provides financial services.
- (19) The legal entities of Volvo/Renault that are liable for the infringement are:
  - AB Volvo (publ), with its registered office in Gothenburg, Sweden;
  - Volvo Lastvagnar AB with its registered office in Gothenburg, Sweden;
  - Renault Truck SAS with its registered office in Saint-Priest, France;

- Volvo Group Trucks Central Europe GmbH (hereinafter referred to as "Volvo DE") with its registered office in Ismaning, Germany. Renault Trucks Deutschland GmbH (hereinafter referred to as "Renault DE"). With effect as of 23 October 2014, Renault DE was merged into Volvo DE. The activities carried out by Renault before 23 October 2014 have been taken over and are now carried out by Volvo DE. The merged entity continues under the name Volvo Group Trucks Central Europe GmbH ("Volvo DE").
- (20) Volvo/Renault's worldwide consolidated turnover in 2015 was EUR 33,411 million.

#### 1.2.5. DAF

- (21) DAF (PACCAR Inc. and its European subsidiaries active in the production, sale and financing of trucks together are referred to as "DAF") produces light, medium and heavy trucks under the DAF brand.
- (22) The legal entities of DAF that are liable for the infringement are:
  - PACCAR Inc. (hereinafter referred to as "PACCAR") with its registered office in Bellevue/Seattle, Washington, U.S.;
  - DAF Trucks N.V. (hereinafter referred to as "DAF HQ") with its registered office in Eindhoven, the Netherlands;
  - DAF Trucks Deutschland GmbH (hereinafter referred to as "DAF DE") with its registered office in Frechen, Germany.
- (23) DAF's worldwide consolidated turnover in 2015 was EUR 17,228 million.

#### 1.3. Description of the trucks market

#### 1.3.1. Market Shares

(24) In 2010 (i.e., towards the end of the infringement period), the aggregated market share in the European Economic Area (EEA) of the Addressees for medium and heavy trucks was approximately 90%.

#### 1.3.2. Structure of the sales force

All of the Addressees have national marketing subsidiaries in key market countries that usually import the trucks. All of the Addressees sell their products through distributors and their respective networks of authorised dealers or, in certain particular cases/regions, directly to key customers<sup>7</sup>. Some of the distributors and dealers are owned by the truck manufacturers as part of their sales organisation, others are independent<sup>8</sup>.

#### 1.3.3. Characteristics of the trucks market

The demand for trucks is highly cyclical. While passenger cars are acquired by both private and commercial customers, trucks are acquired solely by commercial customers. Since trucks are durable goods for professional use, customers often postpone the investment in fleet renewal in times of economic crises, and compensate for this when their businesses thrive. Trucks are not commodity products but are specified according to individual customer requirements and are inherently complex. All of the Addressees offer a range of trucks and hundreds of different

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Some of the truck producers sold only to a limited extent their products directly to key customers.

<sup>8</sup> E.g.: DAF distributes its medium and heavy duty trucks through a network of independent dealers. [...]

options and variants. Furthermore, perceived reliability, technical performance, fuel consumption, maintenance costs, and branding play an important role in customers' purchasing decisions. Other important aspects are a widespread network of service stations, after sales costs, operating costs, etc.<sup>9</sup>

#### 1.3.4. Price setting mechanisms and gross price lists

- The pricing mechanism in the truck sector follows generally the same steps for all of the Addressees. Like in many other industries, pricing starts generally from an initial gross list price set by the Headquarters. Then transfer prices are set for the import of trucks into different markets via wholly owned or independent distributor companies. Furthermore there are prices to be paid by dealers operating in national markets and the final net customer prices. These final net customer prices are negotiated by the dealers or by the manufacturers where they sell directly to dealers or to fleet customers. The final net customer prices will reflect substantial rebates on the initial gross list price. Not all steps are always followed, as manufacturers also sell directly to dealers or to fleet customers.
- With regard to the initial gross price lists of new trucks, all of the Addressees except Iveco applied a gross price list with harmonised gross list prices across the EEA<sup>10</sup>. Renault introduced EEA price lists in 2000 but its implementation took some time, Volvo had an EEA price list since January 2002; DAF since September 2002; MAN since 2004; and Daimler since 2006. These initial EEA gross price lists were decided by the Headquarters. The EEA price lists contained the prices of all medium and heavy truck models as well as all factory-fitted options that the respective manufacturer offered.<sup>11</sup>

#### 1.3.5. Transparency on the trucks market

- (29) The truck sector is characterised by a high degree of transparency. The Addressees had access to competitively relevant data such as truck registrations through public registries. Furthermore, truck producers and their distributor companies had regular exchanges within various industry associations. Within some of these associations, data on order intake and delivery periods or stock levels was exchanged. In addition, the Addressees had access, to varying degrees, to further data through customers spontaneously presenting competitors' offers in order to negotiate prices<sup>12</sup> and via mystery shopping.<sup>13</sup>
- (30) As a result, one of the remaining uncertainties for the Addressees on the trucks market was the future market behaviour of competing truck producers and in particular their respective intentions with regard to changes to their gross prices and gross price lists.

<sup>9 [...</sup> 10 Γ

<sup>10 [...]</sup> 11 [ ]

<sup>12 [ ]</sup> 

Mystery shopping is a tool used to gather specific information about products and services. The mystery consumer's specific identity and purpose is generally not known by the establishment being evaluated.

#### 2. PROCEDURE

#### 2.1. The Commission's investigation

- On 20 September 2010 MAN SE and all of the subsidiaries directly or indirectly controlled by it applied for immunity from fines in accordance with point 14 of the Commission's 2006 Notice on Immunity from fines and reduction of fines in cartel cases (hereafter "the Leniency Notice") and in the alternative, for a reduction of fines in accordance with point 27 of the Leniency Notice in relation with an alleged cartel in the truck industry. The application for immunity was followed by subsequent submissions. On 17 December 2010 the Commission granted conditional immunity from fines to MAN.
- (32) Between 18 and 21 January 2011, the Commission carried out inspections at, amongst others, the premises of the Addressees.
- (33) On 28 January 2011 AB Volvo (publ), including all its direct and indirect subsidiaries, applied for immunity from fines in accordance with point 14 of the Leniency Notice and in the alternative, for a reduction of fines in accordance with point 27 of the Leniency Notice. The application was followed by subsequent submissions.
- On 10 February 2011, at 10.00 am, Daimler AG, including all its direct and indirect subsidiaries, applied for immunity from fines in accordance with point 14 of the Leniency Notice and in the alternative, for a reduction of fines in accordance with point 27 of the Leniency Notice. The application was followed by subsequent submissions.
- On 10 February 2011, at 22.22 pm, Iveco S.p.A. and Fiat S.p.A<sup>14</sup> including all their direct and indirect subsidiaries submitted a common application for immunity from fines in accordance with point 14 of the Leniency Notice and in the alternative, for a reduction of fines in accordance with point 27 of the Leniency Notice. The application was followed by subsequent submissions.
- (36) In the course of the investigation<sup>15</sup>, the Commission has sent several requests for information under Article 18 of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 as well as under Point 12 of the Leniency Notice to, amongst others, the Addressees.
- On 20 November 2014, the Commission initiated proceedings pursuant to Article 11(6) of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 against DAF Trucks N.V., DAF Trucks Deutschland GmbH, PACCAR Inc., Daimler AG, Iveco S.p.A., Iveco Magirus AG, CNH Industrial N.V., Fiat Chrysler Automobiles N.V., MAN SE, MAN Truck & Bus AG, MAN Truck & Bus Deutschland GmbH, AB Volvo (publ), Volvo Lastvagnar AB, Volvo Group Trucks Central Europe GmbH, Renault Trucks SAS, , and adopted a Statement of Objections, which it notified to these entities. <sup>16</sup>

In 2011, Fiat S.p.A. was demerged into two separate legal entities, which, after subsequent mergers, continued as CNH Industrial N.V. and Fiat Chrysler Automobiles NV.

The Office of Fair Trade (OFT) opened an investigation into the UK trucks market. The investigation, which concerned the same undertakings as the Commission's investigation, was conducted under the Competition Act 1998 as well as under the Enterprise Act 2002. On 21 December 2011 the OFT closed the criminal investigation under the Enterprise Act 2002. On 15 June 2012 the OFT issued a public statement announcing the closure of its investigation under the Competition Act 1998.

As set out at recital (4) above, the Commission also opened proceedings against a number of entities of an additional undertaking on 20 November 2014.

- (38) As provided for in point 29 of the Leniency Notice, by letter of 20 November 2014, the Commission informed Volvo/Renault, Daimler and Iveco of its preliminary intention to apply a reduction of a fine within a specified band, as provided for in point 26 of the Leniency Notice.
- (39) Subsequent to the adoption and notification of the Statement of Objections of 20 November 2014, the Addressees had access to the complete file of the Commission.
- (40) In [...] all of the Addressees approached the Commission informally and asked to continue the case under the settlement procedure. The Commission subsequently decided to launch settlement proceedings for this case after each of the Addressees had confirmed its willingness to engage in settlement discussions.
- (41) Settlement meetings between each Addressee and the Commission took place between [...] and [...]. During those meetings, each Addressee expressed its views on the objections raised by the Commission against them. The Addressees' comments were carefully considered by the Commission and, where appropriate, taken into account. The Commission also provided the Addressees with an estimation of the range of fines likely to be imposed by the Commission and informed them that in a Post-Statement of Objections settlement procedure, following receipt by the Commission of the settlement submissions, no additional Statement of Objections would be adopted.
- (42) At the end of the settlement discussions, the Addressees considered that there was a sufficient common understanding as regards the potential objections and the estimation of the range of likely fines to continue the settlement process.
- (43) Between [...] and [...], MAN, DAF, Daimler, Volvo/Renault and Iveco (i.e. the Addressees) submitted to the Commission their formal requests to settle pursuant to Article 10a (2) of Regulation (EC) No 773/2004 (the "settlement submissions"). The settlement submission of each Addressee contained:
  - an acknowledgement in clear and unequivocal terms of the Addressee's liability
    for the infringement summarily described as regards its object, the main facts,
    their legal qualification, including its role and the duration of its participation
    in the infringement in accordance with the results of the settlement discussions;
  - an indication of the maximum amount of the fine the Addressee expected to be imposed by the Commission and which it would accept in the framework of a settlement procedure;
  - the Addressee's confirmation that it has been sufficiently informed of the objections the Commission raised against it and that it has been given sufficient opportunity to make its views known to the Commission;
  - the Addressee's confirmation that is has been provided by the Commission with all the information necessary for allowing it to make an informed decision on whether or not to settle;
  - the Addressee's confirmation that it did not request to be heard again in an oral hearing before the Commission adopts the final settlement decision;
  - the Addressee's agreement to receive the final decision pursuant to Articles 7 and 23 of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 in English.
- (44) Each of the Addressees made the above-mentioned submission conditional upon the imposition of a fine by the Commission which will not exceed the amount as specified in its settlement submission.

#### 2.2. The main evidence relied on

(45) The principal documentary evidence relied upon consists of the documents submitted by MAN (the immunity applicant), Volvo/Renault (leniency applicant), Daimler (leniency applicant) and Iveco (leniency applicant), corporate statements made by these Addressees, documents copied by the Commission during the course of above mentioned inspections, and replies to the Commission's requests for information.

#### 3. DESCRIPTION OF THE CONDUCT

#### 3.1. Further transparency between the Addressees

- All of the Addressees exchanged gross price lists and information on gross prices, and most of them (see (48)) engaged in exchanging computer-based truck configurators. All of these elements constituted commercially sensitive information. Over time, truck configurators, containing the detailed gross prices for all models and options, replaced the traditional gross price lists. This facilitated the calculation of the gross price for each possible truck configuration. The exchange was operated both on a multilateral and on a bilateral level.
- In most cases, gross price information for truck components was not publicly available and information that was publicly available was not as detailed and accurate as the information exchanged between, amongst others, the Addressees. By exchanging current gross prices and gross price lists, combined with other information gathered through market intelligence, the Addressees were better able to calculate their competitors' approximate current net prices depending on the quality of the market intelligence at their disposal.
- (48) Similarly, the exchange of configurators helped the comparison of own offers with those of competitors, which further increased the transparency of the market. In particular, it could be understood from the truck configurators which extras would be compatible with which trucks, and which options would be part of the standard equipment or an extra. All of the Addressees, with the exception of DAF, had access to the configurator of at least one other Addressee. Some configurators only granted access to technical information, such as bodybuilder portals, and did not include any price information.

#### 3.2. Nature and scope of the infringement

- (49) The collusive contacts engaged in by the Addressees in the period 1997 to 2010 took place in the form of regular meetings at venues of industry associations, at trade fairs, product demonstrations by manufacturers or competitor meetings organised for the purpose of the infringement. They also included regular exchanges via e-mails and phone calls. The Addressees' headquarters (hereinafter: Headquarter-Level) were directly involved in the discussion of prices, price increases and the introduction of new emission standards until 2004. From at least August 2002 onwards, discussions took place via German Subsidiaries (hereinafter: German-Level), which, to varying degrees, reported to their Headquarters.
- (50) These collusive arrangements included agreements and/or concerted practices on pricing and gross price increases in order to align gross prices in the EEA and the timing and the passing on of costs for the introduction of emission technologies required by EURO 3 to 6 standards.

- (51)From 1997 until the end of 2004, the Addressees participated in meetings involving senior managers of all Headquarters<sup>17</sup> (see for example (52)). In these meetings, which took place several times per year, the participants discussed and in some cases also agreed their respective gross price increases. 18 Before the introduction of price lists applicable at a pan-European (EEA) level (see above at (28)), the participants discussed gross price increases, specifying the application within the entire EEA, divided by major markets. During additional bilateral meetings in 1997 and 1998 apart from the regular detailed discussions on future gross price increases, the relevant Addressees exchanged information on harmonising gross price lists for the EEA.<sup>19</sup> Occasionally, the participants, including representatives of the Headquarters of all of the Addressees, also discussed net prices for some countries.<sup>20</sup> They also agreed on the timing of the introduction of, and on the additional charge to be applied to, the emissions technology complying with EURO emissions standards.<sup>21</sup> In addition to agreements on the levels of price increases, the participants regularly informed each other of their planned gross price increases.<sup>22</sup> Furthermore, they exchanged their respective delivery periods and their country-specific general market forecasts, subdivided by countries and truck categories<sup>23</sup>. In addition to the meetings, there were regular exchanges of competitively sensitive information by phone and email.<sup>24</sup>
- The following examples of meetings illustrate the nature of the discussions, in particular between the Addressees at the Headquarter-Level during the early period of the infringement. On 17 January 1997, a meeting was organised in Brussels. <sup>25</sup> It was attended by representatives of the Headquarters of all of the Addressees. The evidence demonstrates that future gross list price changes were discussed. During a meeting on 6 April 1998 in the context of an industry association meeting, which was attended by representatives of the Headquarters of all of the Addressees, the participants coordinated on the introduction of EURO 3 standard compliant trucks. They agreed not to offer EURO 3 standard compliant trucks before it was compulsory to do so and agreed on a range for the price additional charge for EURO 3 standard compliant trucks.
- On the upcoming changes to Euro price lists, the evidence shows further that all of the Addressees were involved in discussions about using the introduction of the Euro currency to reduce rebates. The parties involved discussed that France had the lowest prices and agreed that prices in France had to be increased.<sup>26</sup>
- After the introduction of the Euro currency and with the introduction of pan-European (EEA) price lists for almost all manufacturers (see (28)), the Addressees started systematically to exchange their respective planned gross price increases through their German subsidiaries (see for example (59)), while the collusive contacts at the level of senior managers of the Headquarters continued in parallel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> [...]

<sup>18 [...]</sup> 

<sup>19 [...</sup> 

<sup>20</sup> 

<sup>21 [...]</sup> 

<sup>22</sup> 

<sup>23</sup> г

<sup>24 [</sup> 

<sup>24 [...]</sup> 25 [ ]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> [...]

between 2002 and 2004. For example during a meeting on 10 and 11 April 2003,<sup>27</sup> in the context of an industry association meeting, which was attended by, amongst others, representatives of the Headquarters of all of the Addressees, discussions took place concerning, amongst other things, prices and the modalities of the introduction of Euro 4 standard compliant trucks, similar to the discussions that had previously been held concerning the Euro 3 standard (see (52)). In addition, non-senior representatives of the Headquarters and the German Subsidiaries occasionally organised common meetings including both common and separate agenda points and discussions (see for example (59)).

- The exchanges involving the German-Level took place via regular competitor meetings and contacts were organised between employees of the German Subsidiaries. <sup>28</sup> In addition to these meetings, there were regular exchanges by phone and email. <sup>29</sup> The topics discussed covered technical topics and delivery periods but also prices (normally gross prices). <sup>30</sup> Frequently, the participants of these exchanges, including the Addressees, also exchanged commercially sensitive information such as order intake, stock, and other technical information by email and phone. <sup>31</sup>
- In later years, the meetings involving the German-Level became more formalised and gross price increase information that was not available in the public domain was usually inserted in a spread sheet split by truck standard model for each producer.<sup>32</sup> These exchanges took place several times per year.<sup>33</sup> The future gross price increase information exchanged referred either only to the basic truck models or to the trucks and the available options (often this was indicated separately in the tables exchanged), and usually no net prices or net price increases were exchanged. Information on intended future gross price increases exchanged at the level of the German Subsidiaries was, in varying degrees, forwarded to the respective Headquarters.<sup>34</sup>
- (57) The exchange on planned future gross price increases and on the new emissions standards technology continued over the years and as of 2007 regularly included also the delivery periods of the truck producers.<sup>35</sup> As of 2008, the exchanges became more formalised by using a unified template for the purpose of exchanging information concerning the planned gross price increases.<sup>36</sup>
- (58) The exchanges, at least, put the Addressees in a position to take account of the information exchanged for their internal planning process and the planning of future gross price increases for the coming calendar year.<sup>37</sup> Furthermore the information may have influenced the price positioning of some of the Addressees' new products.<sup>38</sup>

<sup>[...]</sup> 

<sup>28 [...]</sup> 

<sup>29</sup> г

<sup>30 [ ]</sup> 

<sup>31 [...</sup> 

<sup>32 [...</sup> 

<sup>33 [...</sup> 

<sup>34 [...</sup> 

<sup>35 [...</sup> 

<sup>36 [...</sup> 

<sup>37</sup> 

<sup>38</sup> 

- (59) following examples illustrate the nature of the discussions in which representatives of the German-Level took part. At the end of 2004, an employee of Trucks Deutschland GmbH sent an email to, amongst others, the representatives of the German Subsidiaries requesting that they communicate their planned gross price increases for 2005. The summarised and compiled price increase information was sent back to all of the participants, including all of the Addressees, a few days later containing information on intended gross price increases.<sup>39</sup> The Addressees attended a meeting between 4 and 5 July 2005 in Munich which was attended by both non-senior Headquarter-Level representatives and employees of the German Subsidiaries. 40 It appears from the evidence that common activities and meetings were scheduled. In addition special sessions were also foreseen involving the non-senior representatives of the Headquarters and separate meetings involving the representatives of the German Subsidiaries. 41 During one of these latter sessions the participants, including all of the Addressees, exchanged information about their planned future gross price increases for 2005 and 2006 as well as the additional cost of complying with the EURO 4 emissions standards. 42 Further meetings involving representatives of the German-Subsidiaries continued the discussions on price increases and the price increases for Euro 4 and Euro 5 standards include the meetings held on 12 April 2006<sup>43</sup> as well as on 12 and 13 March 2008.<sup>44</sup>
- (60) The evidence shows that information on gross price increases of, amongst others, all of the Addressees as of November 2010 and as of January 2011 had been collected from participants in the exchanges. The content of this list has been reproduced in a handwritten note by an employee of MAN who also received the gross price increase information concerning the other participants directly from Daimler. This information was provided when Daimler called MAN to find out details about MAN's next gross price increase.<sup>45</sup>

#### 3.3. Geographic Scope

(61) The geographic scope of the infringement covered the entire EEA throughout the entire duration of the infringement.

#### 3.4. Duration of the infringement

- (62) As set out in Section 4.2, all of the Addressees started their participation in the infringement on 17 January 1997.
- (63) The infringement is considered to have ended on 18 January 2011, which is the date on which inspections began. For MAN the infringement is considered to have ended on 20 September 2010 when it applied for immunity.

<sup>39 [...</sup> 

<sup>40 [</sup> 

<sup>41 [...</sup> 

<sup>42 [...]</sup> 

<sup>43</sup> 

<sup>44 [...]</sup> 

<sup>45 [</sup> 

#### 4. LEGAL ASSESSMENT

(64) Having regard to the body of evidence, the facts as described in Section 4 and the Addressees' clear and unequivocal acknowledgement in their settlement submissions, the Commission makes the following legal assessment.

## 4.1. Application of Article 101(1) of the TFEU and Article 53(1) of the EEA Agreement

#### *4.1.1.* Agreements and concerted practices

#### (a) Principles

- Article 101(1) of the TFEU and Article 53(1) of the EEA Agreement prohibit agreements between undertakings, decisions by associations of undertakings and concerted practices which may affect trade between Member States or the Contracting Parties to the EEA Agreement respectively and which have as their object or effect the prevention, restriction or distortion of competition within the internal market and/or the EEA as applicable.
- Although Article 101(1) of the TFEU and Article 53(1) of the EEA Agreement draw a distinction between the concept of concerted practice and that of agreements between undertakings, the object is to bring within the prohibition of these Articles a form of coordination between undertakings by which, without having reached the stage where an agreement properly so-called has been concluded, they knowingly substitute practical cooperation between them for the risks of competition. Thus, conduct may fall under Article 101(1) of the TFEU and Article 53(1) of the EEA Agreement as a concerted practice even where the parties have not explicitly subscribed to a common plan defining their action in the market but knowingly adopt or adhere to collusive devices which facilitate the coordination of their commercial behaviour.<sup>46</sup>
- (67) The concepts of agreement and concerted practice are fluid and may overlap. Indeed, it may not even be possible to make such a distinction, as an infringement may present simultaneously the characteristics of each form of prohibited conduct, while, when considered in isolation, some of its manifestations could accurately be described as one rather than the other.<sup>47</sup>

#### (b) Application to this case

- (68) The conduct described in Section 4 above can be characterised as a complex infringement of Article 101 of the TFEU and Article 53 of the EEA Agreement, consisting of various actions which can either be classified as agreements or concerted practices, within which the Addressees knowingly substituted practical cooperation between them for the risks of competition.
- (69) This conduct therefore presents all of the characteristics of an agreement and/or concerted practice in the sense of Article 101(1) of the TFEU and Article 53(1) of the EEA Agreement, which had as its object the prevention, restriction and/or distortion of competition with respect to Trucks within the EEA. The Addressees were, in particular, involved in the above-described anticompetitive arrangements concerning

See Case T-7/89 Hercules v Commission EU:T:1991:75, paragraph 256. See also Case 48/69, Imperial Chemical Industries v Commission EU:C:1972:70, paragraph 64, and Joined Cases 40-48/73, etc. Suiker Unie and others v Commission EU:C:1975:174, paragraphs 173-174.

Case C-49/92 P Commission v Anic Partecipazioni, EU:C:1999:356, paragraph 81.

the sale of Trucks through several layers of competitor meetings and other contacts, which took place at the Headquarter-Level and the German-Level.

#### 4.2. Single and Continuous Infringement

#### (a) Principles

An infringement of Article 101(1) of the TFEU and of Article 53(1) of the EEA Agreement may result not only from an isolated act, but also from a series of acts or from continuous conduct, even if one or more aspects of that series of acts or continuous conduct could also, in themselves and taken in isolation, constitute an infringement of that provision. According to settled case law, if different actions form part of an 'overall plan', because their identical object distorts competition within the internal market, the Commission is entitled to impute responsibility for those actions on the basis of participation in the infringement considered as a whole.<sup>48</sup>

#### (b) Application to this case

- (71) In the present case, the conduct described in Section 4 constitutes a single and continuous infringement of Article 101(1) of the TFEU and Article 53(1) of the EEA Agreement from 17 January 1997 until 18 January 2011. At the same time, on the basis of the facts described above, any one of the aspects of conduct, including in respect of any one of the products and in respect of any one of the Member States (or wider regions) has as its object the restriction of competition and therefore constitutes an infringement of Article 101 TFEU and/or Article 53 of EEA Agreement in its own right.<sup>49</sup> The single anti-competitive economic aim of the collusion between the Addressees was to coordinate each other's gross pricing behaviour and the introduction of certain emission standards in order to remove uncertainty regarding the behaviour of the respective Addressees and ultimately the reaction of customers on the market. The collusive practices followed a single economic aim, namely the distortion of independent price setting and the normal movement of prices for Trucks in the EEA.
- (72) Several factors such as the common characteristics of the content of the contacts, the identity and, for some of the Addressees, overlaps of individuals participating in the contacts, the timing of the contacts or the proximity in time confirm that the collusive contacts were linked and complementary<sup>50</sup> in nature, since each of them was intended to deal with one or more of the consequences of the normal pattern of competition within the framework of an EEA-wide plan having a single objective.<sup>51</sup>
- (73) The evidence available shows that the conduct described above constituted an ongoing process and did not consist of isolated or sporadic occurrences. The contacts between the Addressees were of a continuous nature, with numerous regular contacts (face-to-face meetings, phone calls and email exchanges). The different elements of the infringement were in pursuit of a common anti-competitive object as described

Joined Cases C-204/00 etc. Aalborg Portland et al. EU:C:2004:6, paragraph 258.

See Judgment in Commission v. Verhuizingen Coppens NV, C-441/11P, EU:C:2012:778, paragraphs 37, 45; Judgment Commission v. Aalberts Industries and Others, C-287/11 P, EU:C:2013:445, paragraph 65; Judgment of 10 October 2014 Soliver v. Commission, T-68/09, EU:T:2014:867, paragraphs 108-112.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Case T-587/08 *Del Monte v Commission*, not yet reported, at paragraph 593.

Case T-54/03 Lafarge v Commission [2008] ECR II-120, at paragraph 482; Joined Cases T-101/05 and T-111/05 BASF and UCB v Commission [2007] ECR II-4949, at paragraph 179.

above, which remained the same throughout the entire period of the infringement. The existence of a single and continuous infringement is also supported by the fact that the anticompetitive conduct followed a similar pattern throughout the entire period of the infringement.

- Although as of 2004 the collusive contacts took place amongst the German Subsidiaries rather than amongst the Headquarters, such contacts had nevertheless the same object as the previous meetings between representatives of the Headquarter-Level, namely the distortion of independent price setting and of the normal movement for prices for Trucks in the EEA. This is evidenced by the fact that the discussions between the representatives of the German Subsidiaries continued to address the same topics, and in the same way as in other previous meetings involving representatives of the Headquarters<sup>52</sup>.
- (75) By exchanging EEA-wide applicable gross price lists,<sup>53</sup> the Addressees were in a better position to understand from the price increase information exchanged by the German Subsidiaries, each other's European price strategy, than they would have been solely on the basis of the market intelligence at their disposal.<sup>54</sup>
- (76) Furthermore, a limited number of individuals from each Addressee had various contacts which followed a similar pattern throughout the entire period of the infringement, although various circles and levels of exchanges existed. The Addressees intended to contribute to the common objectives of the continuing anti-competitive conduct as described in recitals (49) to (60) and were aware of, or could reasonably have foreseen, the general scope and the essential characteristics of the infringement as a whole.
- (77) The overall scheme was implemented over a period of several years employing the same mechanisms and pursuing the same common purpose of eliminating competition.
- On this basis and with regard to the common design of contacts and the common objective of the infringement, the series of collusive contacts that take place between the Addressees constitutes a single and continuous infringement of Article 101(1) of the TFEU and Article 53(1) of the EEA Agreement.

#### 4.3. Restriction of Competition

#### (a) Principles

- (79) To come within the prohibition laid down in Article 101(1) of the TFEU and Article 53(1) of the EEA Agreement, an agreement or a concerted practice must have as its object or effect the prevention, restriction or distortion of competition in the internal market and/or the EEA as applicable.
- (80) In that regard, it is apparent from the case-law that there is no need to examine the actual effects of an agreement or concerted practice when it has as its object the

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Cf. paras to (49) to (60) above.

Although Iveco did not have an EEA-wide applicable gross price list for its own trucks, it received the EEA-wide applicable gross price lists of the other Addressees.

It depends on the strategy of each company how much resources they dedicated to competitor monitoring. The Addressees had, to varying degrees, access to further data through customers spontaneously presenting competitor offers in order to negotiate prices and via mystery shopping (see paragraph (29)).

prevention, restriction or distortion of competition within the internal market and/or EEA and when the anti-competitive object of the conduct in question is proved.<sup>55</sup>

#### (b) Application to this case

- (81) The anti-competitive behaviour described in paragraphs (49) to (60) above has the object of restricting competition in the EEA-wide market. The conduct is characterised by the coordination between Addressees, which were competitors, of gross prices, directly and through the exchange of planned gross price increases, the limitation and the timing of the introduction of technology complying with new emission standards and sharing other commercially sensitive information such as their order intake and delivery times. Price being one of the main instruments of competition, the various arrangements and mechanisms adopted by the Addressees were ultimately aimed at restricting price competition within the meaning of Article 101(1) of the TFEU and Article 53(1) of the EEA Agreement.
- (82) It is settled case-law that for the purposes of Article 101 of the TFEU and Article 53 of the EEA Agreement there is no need to take into account the actual effects of an agreement when it has as its object the prevention, restriction or distortion of competition within the internal market and/or EEA, as applicable. Consequently, in the present case it is not necessary to show actual anti-competitive effects as the anti-competitive object of the conduct in question is proved.

#### 4.4. Effect on Trade

- (a) Principles
- (83) Article 101 of the TFEU is aimed at agreements and concerted practices which might harm the attainment of a single market between the Member States, whether by partitioning national markets or by affecting the structure of competition within the internal market. Similarly, Article 53 of the EEA Agreement is directed at agreements that undermine the achievement of a homogeneous EEA.
  - (b) Application to this case
- (84) The trucks sector is characterised by a substantial volume of trade between Member States as well as between the Union and the EFTA countries of the EEA and affects the competitive structure of the market in at least two Member States.<sup>56</sup>
- (85) In this case, taking into account the market share and turnover of the Addressees within the EEA, it can be presumed that the effects on trade are appreciable <sup>57</sup>. Furthermore, the geographical scope of the infringement which covered several Member States and the cross-border nature of the products affected also demonstrate that the effects on trade are appreciable.

## 4.5. Non-applicability of Article 101(3) of the Treaty and Article 53(3) of the EEA Agreement

(a) Principles

Case C-67/13 P Groupement des Cartes Bancaires v Commission, EU:C:2014:2204, paragraph 49; Case C-286/13 P Dole Food and Dole Fresh Fruit Europe v Commission, EU:C:2015:184, paragraph 113.

Cf. point 21 of the Guidelines on the effect on trade concept contained in Article 81 and 82 of the Treaty; OJ 2004 C101, 81, 83.

Cf. point 53 of the Guidelines on the effect on trade concept contained in Article 81 and 82 of the Treaty.

- (86) The provisions of Article 101(1) of the TFEU and Article 53(1) of the EEA Agreement may be declared inapplicable pursuant to Article 101(3) of the TFEU and Article 53(3) of the EEA Agreement respectively, where an agreement or concerted practice contributes to improving the production or distribution of goods or to promoting technical or economic progress, provided that it allows consumers a fair share of the resulting benefit, does not impose restrictions that are not indispensable to the attainment of those objectives and does not afford the undertakings concerned the possibility of eliminating competition in respect of a substantial part of the products in question.
  - (b) Application to this case
- (87) On the basis of the facts before the Commission, there are no indications that the conduct of the Addressees described entailed any benefits or otherwise promoted technical or economic progress.
- (88) The Commission has therefore reached the conclusion that the conditions provided for in Article 101(3) TFEU and Article 53(3) of the EEA Agreement are not met in this case.

#### 5. DURATION OF THE INFRINGEMENT

- (89) As set out in Section 4.2, all Addressees started their participation in the infringement on 17 January 1997.
- (90) The infringement is considered to have ended on 18 January 2011, which is the date on which inspections began. For MAN the infringement is considered to have ended on 20 September 2010 when it applied for immunity.

#### 6. LIABILITY

(a) Principles

(91) Article 101 of the TFEU and Article 53 of the EEA Agreement apply to undertakings and associations of undertakings.<sup>58</sup> The notion "undertaking" covers any entity engaged in an economic activity, regardless of its legal status and the way in which it is financed.<sup>59</sup>

- (92) The term "undertaking" must be understood as designating an economic unit even if in law that economic unit consists of several natural or legal persons. 60 In order to determine whether separate legal entities form part of the same undertaking, regard must be had especially to the economic, organisational and legal links between those entities. 61
- (93) According to the settled case-law, where a parent company has a 100% shareholding in a subsidiary which has infringed the competition rules of the Union, then there is a

Joined Cases C-204/00 P, C-205/00 P, C-211/00 P, C-213/00 P, C-217/00 P and C-219/00 P Aalborg Portland and Others v Commission [2004] ECR I-123, paragraph 59.

Joined Cases C-201/09 P and C-216/09 P Arcelor v Mittal and Luxembourg v Commission and Others [2011] ECR I, point 95.

Case C-97/08 P Akzo Nobel and Others v Commission [2009] ECR I-8237, paragraph 58.

Joined Cases C-189/02 P, C-202/02 P, C-205/02 P to C-208/02 P and C-213/02 P Dansk Rørindustri and Others v Commission [2005] ECR I-5425, paragraph 112; Case C-222/04 Cassa di Risparmio di Firenze and Others [2006] ECR I-289, paragraph 107; and Case C-205/03 P FENIN v Commission [2006] ECR I-6295, paragraph 25.

rebuttable presumption that the parent company can and does in fact exercise decisive influence over the conduct of its subsidiary<sup>62</sup>.

- (b) Application to this case
- (94) Having regard to the body of evidence and the facts described above and the Addressees' clear and unequivocal acknowledgements in their settlement submissions, the Commission holds the below listed undertakings, consisting of the following legal entities, liable for the infringement of Article 101 TFEU and Article 53 of the EEA Agreement.

#### 6.1. MAN

- (95) The following legal entities are held jointly and severally liable for the infringement committed by MAN:
  - (a) MAN Truck & Bus AG, as a direct participant, for its involvement in the infringement from 17 January 1997 until 20 September 2010, and, as parent company, for the conduct of its subsidiary MAN Truck & Bus Deutschland GmbH from 3 May 2004 until 20 September 2010. MAN Truck & Bus AG acknowledged that, as a parent company, it exercised decisive influence over its subsidiary MAN Truck & Bus Deutschland GmbH during the relevant period.
  - (b) MAN Truck & Bus Deutschland GmbH, as a direct participant, for its involvement in the infringement from 3 May 2004 until 20 September 2010.
  - (c) MAN SE, as parent company, for the conduct of its subsidiary MAN Truck & Bus AG from 17 January 1997 until 20 September 2010 and of its subsidiary MAN Truck & Bus Deutschland GmbH from 3 May 2004 until 20 September 2010. MAN SE acknowledged that it exercised, as a parent company, decisive influence over its wholly-owned subsidiary MAN Truck & Bus AG from 17 January 1997 until 20 September 2010 and as an (indirect) parent company over its subsidiary MAN Truck & Bus Deutschland GmbH from 3 May 2004 until 20 September 2010.

#### 6.2. Daimler

(96) Daimler AG is held liable, as a direct participant, for its involvement in the infringement from 17 January 1997 until 18 January 2011.

#### **6.3.** Iveco

(97) The following legal entities are held jointly and severally liable for the infringement committed by Iveco:

- (a) Iveco S.p.A., as a direct participant, for its involvement in the infringement from 17 January 1997 until 14 November 2008, and, as a parent company, for the conduct of its subsidiary Iveco Magirus AG from 26 June 2001 until 18 January 2011. Iveco S.p.A. acknowledged that, it exercised, as a parent company, decisive influence over its subsidiary Iveco Magirus AG during the relevant period.
- (b) Iveco Magirus AG, as a direct participant, for its involvement in the infringement from 26 June 2001 until 18 January 2011.

See Case C-97/08 P Akzo Nobel and others v Commission [2009] ECR 1-08237, paragraph 60.

- (c) Fiat Chrysler Automobiles N.V., as a (former) parent company, for the conduct of its subsidiary Iveco S.p.A. from 17 January 1997 until 14 November 2008 and of its subsidiary Iveco Magirus AG from 26 June 2001 until 31 December 2010. Fiat Chrysler Automobiles N.V. acknowledged that it exercised, as a (former) parent company, decisive influence over its subsidiary Iveco S.p.A. from 17 January 1997 until 31 December 2010 and as an (indirect) parent company over its subsidiary Iveco Magirus AG from 26 June 2001 until 31 December 2010.
- (d) CNH Industrial N.V., as a parent company, for the conduct of its (indirect) subsidiary Iveco Magirus AG from 1 January 2011 until 18 January 2011. CNH Industrial N.V. acknowledged that it exercised, as a parent company, decisive influence over its subsidiary Iveco S.p.A. and as an (indirect) parent company over its subsidiary Iveco Magirus AG from 1 January 2011 until 18 January 2011.

#### 6.4. Volvo/Renault

- (98) The following legal entities are held jointly and severally liable for the infringement committed by Volvo/Renault:
  - (a) Volvo Lastvagnar AB, as a direct participant, for its involvement in the infringement from 17 January 1997 until 8 April 2010, and, as parent company, for the conduct of its subsidiary Volvo Group Trucks Central Europe GmbH (to the extent that this does not involve the liability for Renault Trucks Deutschland GmbH) from 20 January 2004 until 18 January 2011. Volvo Lastvagnar AB acknowledged that it exercised, as a parent company, decisive influence over its subsidiary Volvo Group Trucks Central Europe GmbH during the relevant period.
  - (b) Volvo Group Trucks Central Europe GmbH, as a direct participant, for its involvement in the infringement from 20 January 2004 until 18 January 2011 and, as legal and economic successor, for the involvement of Renault Trucks Deutschland GmbH in the infringement from 20 January 2004 until 18 January 2011.
  - (c) Renault Trucks SAS is liable, as a direct participant, for its involvement in the infringement from 17 January 1997 until 18 January 2011, and as a parent company for the conduct of its subsidiary Volvo Group Trucks Central Europe GmbH (to the extent that it is the legal and economic successor of Renault Trucks Deutschland GmbH) from 20 January 2004 until 18 January 2011. Renault acknowledged that it exercised during the relevant period, as a parent company, decisive influence over its subsidiary Volvo Group Trucks Central Europe GmbH (to the extent that it is the legal and economic successor of Renault Trucks Deutschland GmbH).
  - (d) AB Volvo, as a parent company, for the conduct of:
    - its subsidiary Renault Trucks SAS from 2 January 2001 until 18 January 2011;
    - its (indirect) subsidiary Volvo Group Trucks Central Europe GmbH (including as legal and economic successor of Renault Trucks Deutschland GmbH) from 20 January 2004 until 18 January 2011; and
    - its subsidiary Volvo Lastvagnar AB from 17 January 1997 until 8 April 2010.

(99) AB Volvo acknowledged that it exercised, as a parent company, decisive influence over its subsidiary Renault Trucks SAS from 2 January 2001 until 18 January 2011; over its subsidiary Volvo Group Trucks Central Europe GmbH (including as legal and economic successor of Renault Trucks Deutschland GmbH) from 20 January 2004 until 18 January 2011; and over its subsidiary Volvo Lastvagnar AB from 17 January 1997 until 18 January 2011.

#### 6.5. DAF

- (100) The following legal entities are held jointly and severally liable for the infringement committed by DAF:
  - (a) DAF Trucks N.V., as a direct participant, for its involvement in the infringement from 17 January 1997 until 27 February 2009 and , as parent company for the conduct of DAF Trucks Deutschland GmbH from 20 January 2004 until 18 January 2011. DAF Trucks N.V. acknowledged that it exercised as a parent company decisive influence over its subsidiary DAF Trucks Deutschland GmbH from 20 January 2004 until 18 January 2011.
  - (b) DAF Trucks Deutschland GmbH, as a direct participant, for its involvement in the infringement from 20 January 2004 until 18 January 2011.
  - (c) PACCAR Inc., as a parent company, for the conduct of its subsidiary DAF Trucks N.V. from 17 January 1997 until 27 February 2009 and for the conduct of its subsidiary DAF Trucks Deutschland GmbH from 20 January 2004 until 18 January 2011. PACCAR Inc. acknowledged that it exercised as a parent company decisive influence over its subsidiary DAF Trucks N.V. from 17 January 1997 until 18 January 2011 and over its subsidiary DAF Trucks Deutschland GmbH from 20 January 2004 until 18 January 2011.

#### 7. REMEDIES

#### 7.1. Article 7 of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003:

- (101) Where the Commission finds that there is an infringement of Article 101 TFEU and Article 53 of the EEA Agreement it may by decision require the undertakings concerned to bring such infringement to an end in accordance with Article 7 of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003.
- (102) Given the secrecy in which the arrangements of the infringement were carried out, in this case it is not possible to declare with absolute certainty that the infringement has ceased. It is therefore necessary for the Commission to require the undertakings to which this Decision is addressed to bring the infringement to an end (if they have not already done so) and to refrain from any agreement or concerted practice which may have the same or a similar object or effect.

#### **7.2.** Article 23(2) of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 – Fines

(103) Under Article 23(2) of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003, the Commission may by decision impose fines on undertakings and associations of undertakings where, either intentionally or negligently, they infringe Article 101 TFEU and Article 53 of the

EEA Agreement<sup>63</sup>. For each undertaking participating in the infringement, the fine must not exceed 10% of its total turnover in the preceding business year.

- (104) In this case, based on the facts described in this decision, the Commission considers that the infringement was committed intentionally.
- (105) The Commission imposes fines in this case on the undertakings to which this decision is addressed.
- (106) Pursuant to Article 23(3) of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003, the Commission must, in fixing the amount of the fine to be imposed, have regard to all relevant circumstances and particularly the gravity and duration of the infringement, which are the two criteria explicitly referred to in that Regulation. In doing so, the Commission sets the fines at a level sufficient to ensure deterrence. In setting the fines to be imposed, the Commission refers to the principles laid down in its Guidelines on fines<sup>64</sup>. Finally, the Commission applies, as appropriate, the provisions of the Leniency Notice and the Settlement Notice.<sup>65</sup>

#### 7.2.1. Calculation of the fines

(107) According to the Guidelines on fines, the basic amount of the fine to be imposed on each undertaking concerned results from the addition of a variable amount and an additional amount. The variable amount results from a percentage of up to 30% of the value of sales of goods or services to which the infringement relates in a given year (normally, the last full business year of the infringement) multiplied by the number of years of the undertaking's participation in that infringement. The additional amount ("entry fee") is calculated as a percentage between 15% and 25% of the value of sales. 66 The resulting basic amount can then be increased or reduced for each undertaking if aggravating or mitigating circumstances are found to be applicable.

#### 7.2.2. The value of sales

- (108) The basic amount of the fine to be imposed on the undertakings concerned is to be set by reference to the value of sales, <sup>67</sup> that is to say, the value of the undertaking's sales of goods or services to which the infringement directly or indirectly related in the relevant geographic area in the EEA.
- (109) In this case, the relevant value of sales is the undertaking's sales of medium trucks and heavy trucks both as rigid trucks as well as tractor trucks (as defined in Section 2.1 above) in the EEA. The case does not concern aftersales, other services and warranties for trucks, the sale of used trucks or any other goods or services sold by the Addressees in the present proceedings.

\_

According to Article 5 of Council Regulation (EC) No 2894/94 of 28 November 1994 concerning arrangements for implementing the Agreement on the European Economic Area, "the Community rules giving effect to the principles set out in Articles 85 and 86 [now Articles 101 and 102 of the Treaty] of the EC Treaty [...] shall apply *mutatis mutandis*" (OJ L 305, 30.11.1994, p.6.).

Guidelines on the method of setting fines imposed pursuant to Article 23(2)(a) of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 (OJ C 210, 1.09.2006, p. 2).

Commission Notice on the conduct of settlement procedures in view of the adoption of Decisions pursuant to Article 7 and Article 23 of Council Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 in cartel cases (OJ C 167, 2.7.2008, p. 1).

Points 19-26 of the Guidelines on fines.

Point 12 of the Guidelines on fines.

- (110) The Commission normally takes the sales made by the undertakings during the last full business year of their participation in the infringement<sup>68</sup>. If the last year is not sufficiently representative, the Commission may take into account another year and/or other years for the determination of the value of sales. Based on the foregoing, and on the information provided by the Addressees, the Commission used the undertakings' sales in the last full business year of their participation in the infringement, namely 2010.
- (111) The Commission will also take into account the evolution of the EEA territory during the infringement period following the accessions of new Member States to the Union in 2004 and 2007. Regarding the assessment of the fine for the infringement before 1 May 2004, only the proxy for the value of sales within the then 18 Contracting Parties to the EEA agreement will be taken into account. From 1 May 2004 until 31 December 2006 the proxy for the value of sales within the then 28 Contracting Parties to the EEA agreement will be taken into account. From 1 January 2007 until the end of the infringement the proxy for the value of sales within the then 30 Contracting Parties to the EEA agreement will be taken into account.
- (112)When determining the appropriate level of the fines to be imposed on undertakings that have infringed Article 101 TFEU and Article 53 of the EEA Agreement, the Commission must ensure, in light of the specificities of the case before it, that its action has the necessary deterrent effect, while, at the same time, respecting the general EU law principle of proportionality. In order to achieve these objectives, it is appropriate for the Commission to refer to the value of sales of goods or services to which the infringement relates as a basis of setting the fine, as well as the duration and gravity of the infringement. However, while reference to these factors provides a good indication of the order of magnitude of the fine, they should not be regarded as the basis for an automatic and arithmetical calculation method. In line with the principle of proportionality, it is considered that a sufficiently deterrent effect can be achieved in the present case without having recourse to the full value of the undertakings' sales of trucks in the EEA. Therefore, the Commission deems it appropriate to apply point 37 of the Guidelines on Fines, which allows it to depart from the methodology of the Guidelines, to adjust uniformly the proportion of each undertaking's value of sales for the purposes of calculating the variable and additional amounts of the fines.
- (113) In light of the foregoing, the Commission has used the value of sales set out in Table 1 below for the purposes of calculating the variable and additional amounts of the fines.

Table 1: The value of sales

Undertaking	Retained value of sales for fines calculation
MAN	[]
Daimler	[]
Iveco	[]

Point 13 of the Guidelines on fines.

Volvo/Renault	[]
DAF	[]

#### 7.2.3. *Gravity*

- (114) The gravity of the infringement determines the percentage of the value of sales taken into account in setting the fine. In assessing the gravity of the infringement, the Commission has regard to a number of factors, such as the nature of the infringement, the combined market share of all the undertakings concerned, the geographic scope of the infringement and/or whether or not the infringement has been implemented.<sup>69</sup>
- (115) Price coordination arrangements such as those described in this Decision are, by their very nature, among the most harmful restrictions of competition. The proportion of the value of sales taken into account for such infringements will, therefore, generally be set at the higher end of the scale of the value of sales.<sup>70</sup>
- (116) The Commission also takes into account the combined market share of the Addressees in the European Economic Area (EEA), which is around 90% and the fact that the infringement covered the entire EEA.
- (117) Given the specific circumstances of this case, in particular taking into account the nature, the geographic scope of the infringement as well as the combined market share of the undertakings, the proportion of the value of sales to be taken into account is 17%.

#### 7.2.4. Duration

- (118) In calculating the fine to be imposed on each undertaking, the Commission also takes into consideration the duration of the infringement as set out in Section 4.4.<sup>71</sup>
- (119)Volvo/Renault, a leniency applicant, was the first Addressee to provide compelling evidence of events previously unknown to the Commission, which allowed the Commission to identify the starting date of the infringement for all of the Addressees as the 17 January 1997. Thereby, the starting date for the infringement was changed from 16 January 2001 to 17 January 1997. The evidence submitted by Volvo/Renault contemporaneous handwritten notes, meeting reports and contained invitations of an employee, who personally participated in competitor meetings, which are part of the infringement. The evidence contained exact meeting dates and detailed information about further anticompetitive contacts. As these additional facts allowed the Commission to increase the duration of the infringement they are not taken into account against Volvo/Renault for the purposes of determining its fine. In application of Point 26 of the Guidelines on Fines, therefore, Volvo/Renault is granted partial immunity for the period from 17 January 1997 until 15 January 2001. As a result, only the period from 16 January 2001 to 18 January 2011 is taken into account for the calculation of Volvo/Renault's fine.

Points 21 and 22 of the Guidelines on fines.

Point 23 of the Guidelines on fines.

Point 24 of the Guidelines on fines.

(120) The duration to be taken into account for the purposes of calculating the fine to be imposed on each addressee and the resulting multipliers for duration are set out in Table 2.

**Table 2: Duration** 

Undertaking	Duration	Multipliers
MAN	17 January 1997 – 20 September 2010	13.67
Daimler	17 January 1997 – 18 January 2011	14
Iveco	17 January 1997 - 18 January 2011	14
Volvo/Renault	16 January 2001 - 18 January 2011	10
DAF	17 January 1997 - 18 January 2011	14

#### 7.2.5. Determination of the additional amount

- (121) The infringement committed by the Addressees involves horizontal price collusion within the meaning of point 25 of the Guidelines on fines. The basic amount of each fine should, therefore, include a sum of between 15% and 25% of the retained value of sales to deter the Addressees from entering into such illegal practices in the future.<sup>72</sup>
- (122) For the purposes of deciding the proportion of the retained value of sales to be taken into account, the Commission took into consideration the factors set out in recitals (115) to (116). The proportion of the retained value of sales to be taken into account for the purposes of calculating the additional amount should, therefore, be 17%.

#### 7.2.6. Calculation of the basic amount

(123) Based on the criteria explained in recitals (103)-(122), the basic amount of the fine to be imposed on each undertaking is set out in Table 3.

Table 3: Basic amounts of the fine

Point 25 of the Guidelines on fines.

Undertaking	Basic amount in EUR
MAN	[]
Daimler	[]
Iveco	[]
Volvo/Renault	[]
DAF	[]

- 7.2.7. Adjustments to the basic amount of the fine: aggravating or mitigating factors
- (124) The Commission may increase the basic amount where it considers that aggravating circumstances apply. Those circumstances are listed in a non-exhaustive way in point 28 of the Guidelines on fines. The Commission may also reduce the basic amount where it considers that mitigating circumstances apply. Those circumstances are listed in a non-exhaustive way in point 29 of the Guidelines on fines.
- (125) The Commission does not consider that any aggravating or mitigating circumstances apply in this case.
- 7.2.8. Application of the 10% turnover limit
- (126) Article 23(2) of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 provides that for each undertaking participating in the infringement, the fine imposed shall not exceed 10% of its total turnover in the preceding business year.
- (127) In this case, none of the fines calculated (see Table ) exceeds 10% of the respective undertaking's total turnover in 2015.
- 7.2.9. Application of the Leniency Notice
- (128) On 20 September 2010, MAN SE and all of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly controlled by it applied for immunity from fines in accordance with point 14 of the Commission's 2006 Leniency Notice in relation to an alleged infringement in the truck industry. On 17 December 2010, the Commission granted conditional immunity from fines to MAN.
- (129) MAN's co-operation has fulfilled the requirements of the Leniency Notice. MAN is therefore granted immunity from fines in this case.
- (130) Volvo/Renault was the first undertaking to meet the requirements of points 24 and 25 of the Leniency Notice. Volvo/Renault was notified of the decision of 20 November 2014 by which the Commission announced its preliminary intention to grant a reduction of any fine imposed on Volvo/Renault within the range of 30-50%. Volvo/Renault provided, as explained above in recital (119), compelling evidence allowing the Commission to extend the duration of the infringement. Volvo/Renault was, therefore, granted partial immunity for the relevant period.
- (131) With respect to the remainder of the evidence submitted by Volvo/Renault concerning the infringement found by the Commission, such evidence contained contemporaneous documents which, although useful for establishing certain additional facts (see further recital (131) below), principally served to corroborate evidence already available to the Commission. With respect to the evidence useful for establishing additional facts, the Commission notes that this evidence helped it

better to understand the overall contact pattern and thereby strengthened the Commission's ability to prove the infringement. Therefore, Volvo/Renault is granted 40% reduction of its fines.

- Daimler was the second undertaking to meet the requirements of points 24 and 25 of (132)the Leniency Notice. Daimler was notified of the decision of 20 November 2014 by which the Commission announced its intention to grant a reduction of any fine imposed on Daimler within the range of 20-30%. Daimler provided the Commission with further contemporaneous evidence and corroborating evidence of a detailed nature. Daimler submitted very detailed information on the subject matter of several multilateral meetings and contacts including a very detailed analysis of the evidence, explaining the development of contacts and the functioning of the collusion. Daimler's cooperation significantly contributed to the Commission's understanding of the functioning of the collusion and added solid elements to prove the infringement. Therefore. the Commission concludes that evidence provided by Daimler strengthened in a substantial way the Commission's ability to prove the facts pertaining to this infringement. Consequently, Daimler is granted 30% reduction of its fines.
- Iveco was the third undertaking to meet the requirements of points 24 and 25 of the Leniency Notice. Iveco was notified of the decision of 20 November 2014 by which the Commission announced its intention to grant a reduction of any fine imposed on Iveco of up to 20%. The evidence submitted by Iveco with respect the infringement found by the Commission was useful to identify the participants of several meetings. Furthermore, Iveco provided presentations which competitors exchanged at such meetings. Iveco's cooperation contributed to the Commission's overall ability to prove the infringement principally by corroborating evidence already in the Commission's possession. Iveco is accordingly granted 10% reduction of its fines.

#### 7.2.10. Application of the Settlement Notice

- (134) In accordance with point 32 of the Settlement Notice, the reward for settlement results in a reduction of 10% of the amount of the fine to be imposed after the 10% turnover cap has been applied having regard to the Guidelines on fines. Pursuant to point 33 of the Settlement Notice, when settled cases involve leniency applicants, the reduction of the fine granted to them for settlement will be added to their leniency reward.
- (135) As a result of the application of the Settlement Notice, the amount of the fine imposed on each Addressee is reduced by 10%, which is added to the leniency reduction.
- 7.2.11. Conclusion: final amount of individual fines to be imposed in this decision
- (136) The fines to be imposed pursuant to Article 23(2) of Regulation (EC) No 1/2003 are set out in Table 4.

**Table 4: Individual fines** 

Undertaking	Fines (in EUR)

MAN	0
Daimler	1 008 766 000
Iveco	494 606 000
Volvo	670 448 000
DAF	752 679 000

#### HAS ADOPTED THIS DECISION:

#### Article 1

By colluding on pricing and gross price increases in the EEA for medium and heavy trucks; and the timing and the passing on of costs for the introduction of emission technologies for medium and heavy trucks required by EURO 3 to 6 standards, the following undertakings infringed Article 101 TFEU and Article 53 of the EEA Agreement during the periods indicated:

- (a) MAN SE, from 17 January 1997 until 20 September 2010; MAN Truck
   & Bus AG, from 17 January 1997 until 20 September 2010; MAN Truck
   & Bus Deutschland GmbH, from 3 May 2004 until 20 September 2010
- (b) AB Volvo (publ), from 17 January 1997 until 18 January 2011; Volvo Lastvagnar AB, from 17 January 1997 until 18 January 2011; Volvo Group Trucks Central Europe GmbH, from 20 January 2004 until 18 January 2011; Renault Trucks SAS, from 17 January 1997 until 18 January 2011
- (c) Daimler AG, from 17 January 1997 until 18 January 2011
- (d) Fiat Chrysler Automobiles N.V., from 17 January 1997 until 31 December 2010; CNH Industrial N.V., from 1 January 2011 until 18 January 2011; Iveco S.p.A., from 17 January 1997 until 18 January 2011; Iveco Magirus AG, from 26 June 2001 until 18 January 2011;
- (e) PACCAR Inc., from 17 January 1997 until 18 January 2011; DAF Trucks N.V., from 17 January 1997 until 18 January 2011; DAF Trucks Deutschland GmbH, from 20 January 2004 until 18 January 2011

#### Article 2

For the infringement referred to in Article 1, the following fines are imposed:

(a) EUR 0 jointly and severally on MAN SE, MAN Truck & Bus AG and MAN Truck & Bus Deutschland GmbH

(b) EUR 670 448 000 jointly and severally on AB Volvo (publ), Volvo Lastvagnar AB and Renault Trucks SAS of which,

Volvo Group Trucks Central Europe GmbH is held jointly and severally responsible for the amount of EUR

(c) EUR 1 008 766 000

on Daimler AG.

(d) EUR 494 606 000

on Iveco S.p.A., of which:

- (1) Fiat Chrysler Automobiles N.V. is held jointly and severally responsible for the amount of EUR 156 746 105,
- (2) Fiat Chrysler Automobiles N.V. and Iveco Magirus AG are held jointly and severally responsible for the amount of EUR 336 119 346 and
- (3) CNH Industrial N.V. and Iveco Magirus AG are held jointly and severally responsible for the amount of EUR 1 740 549.
- (e) EUR 752 679 000

jointly and severally on PACCAR Inc. and DAF Trucks N.V. of which

DAF Trucks Deutschland GmbH is held jointly and severally responsible for the amount of EUR 376 118 773.

The fines shall be paid in euros, within three months of the date of notification of this Decision, to the following bank account held in the name of the European Commission:

BANQUE ET CAISSE D'EPARGNE DE L'ETAT 1-2, Place de Metz L-1930 Luxembourg

IBAN: LU02 0019 3155 9887 1000

**BIC: BCEELULL** 

Ref.: European Commission – BUFI/AT.39824

After the expiry of that period, interest shall automatically be payable at the interest rate applied by the European Central Bank to its main refinancing operations on the first day of the month in which this Decision is adopted, plus 3.5 percentage points.

Where an undertaking referred to in Article 1 lodges an appeal, that undertaking shall cover the fine by the due date, either by providing an acceptable financial guarantee or making a provisional payment of the fine in accordance with Article 90 of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 1268/2012<sup>73</sup>.

<sup>73</sup> 

#### Article 3

The undertakings listed in Article 1 shall immediately bring to an end the infringements referred to in that Article insofar as they have not already done so.

They shall refrain from repeating any act or conduct described in Article 1, and from any act or conduct having the same or similar object or effect.

#### Article 4

This Decision is addressed to

MAN SE, Ungererstraße 69, 80805 München, Germany

MAN Truck & Bus AG, Dachauer Str. 667, 80995 München, Germany

MAN Truck & Bus Deutschland GmbH, Oskar-Schlemmer-Straße 19-21, 80807 München, Germany

AB Volvo (publ), 405 08 Göteborg, Sweden

Volvo Lastvagnar AB, 405 08 Göteborg, Sweden

Volvo Group Trucks Central Europe GmbH, Oskar-Messter-Str. 20, 85737 Ismaning, Germany

Renault Trucks SAS, 99, Route de Lyon, 69806 Saint-Priest Cedex, France

Daimler AG, Mercedesstrasse 137, 70327 Stuttgart, Germany

Fiat Chrysler Automobiles N.V., Fiat House, 25 St James's Street, London, SW1A 1HA, United Kingdom

CNH Industrial N.V., 25 St James's Street, London, SW1A 1HA, United Kingdom

Iveco S.p.A., Via Puglia 35, 10156 Torino, Italy

Iveco Magirus AG, Nicolaus-Otto-Straße 27, 89079 Ulm, Germany

PACCAR Inc., PACCAR Building, 777-106th Avenue N.E, Bellevue, US - Washington 98004, USA

DAF Trucks N.V., Hugo van der Goeslaan 1,5643 TW Eindhoven, The Netherlands

DAF Trucks Deutschland GmbH, DAF-Allee 1, 50226 Frechen, Germany

This Decision shall be enforceable pursuant to Article 299 of the Treaty and Article 110 of the EEA Agreement.

Done at Brussels, 19.7.2016

For the Commission Margrethe VESTAGER Member of the Commission